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IN THE SUPREME COURT OF PENNSYLVANIA 

OFFICE OF DISCIPLINARY COUNSEL 

JOSHUA_EILBERG 
(Philadelphia) 

v. 

Petitioner 

No. 222, Disciplinary Docket #1 

(Eoard File No. 8 DB 1979) 

Attorney Registration #03881 

ARGUED: January 19, 1982 

O R D E R 

AND NOW, this 8th day of March, 1982, it is 

hereby ORDERED, that JOSHUA EILBERG is suspended from the practice 

of law for a period of five (5) years, retroactive to the date of 

the original suspension, March 28, 1979. 

Opinion of the Supreme Court 
by Chief Justice O'Brien 

TRUE COPY FROM RECORD 
Attest: 3/8/82

Marlene F. Lachman, 
Prothonotary 



[J28] 
IN THE SUPREME COURT OF PENNSYLVANIA 

OFFICE OF DISCIPLINARY COUNSEL,: No. 222 Disciplinary Docket No.l 

Petitioner (Board File No. 8 DB 1979) 

V. Attorney Registration No. 03881 

JOSHUA EILBERG ARGUED: January 19, 1982 

OPINION OF THE COURT 

O'BRIEN, C.J. Filed: March 8, 1982 

On February 24, 1979, respondent pleaded guilty 

to violating 18 U.S.C. §203(a) which prohibits Members of 

Congress and other government officials from receiving 

compensation for services rendered before any federal agency.1

This Court entered an order suspending respondent 

from the practice of law on March 28, 1979, and referred 

18 USC §203 states: 

"Compensation to Members of Congress, officers., 
and others in matters affecting the Government. 

(a) Whoever, otherwise than as provided by law for the
proper discharge of official duties, directly or indirectly 
receives or agrees to receive, or asks, demands, solicits, 
or seeks, any compensation for any services rendered or to 
be rendered either by himself or another --

(1) at a time when he is a Member of Congress,
Member of Congress elect, Delegate from the District of 
Columbia, Delegate Elect from the District of Columbia, 
Resident Commissioner, or Resident Commissioner Elect; or 

(2) at a time when he is an officer or employee of
the United States in the executive, legislative, or 
judicial branch of the Government, or in any agency of the 
Uni.ted States, including the District of Columbia, 

(Footnote continued on page 2) 
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the matter to the Disciplinary Board (hereinafter "Board") for 

the institution of formal proceedings to determine the extent 

of the final discipline to be imposed. A hearing was held on 

October 29, 1980, and November 14, 1980, with a report thereafter 

issued by the hearing committee on February 3, 1981. The 

connnittee concluded that respondent violated the following 

disciplinary rules: 

1. DR 1-102 (A)(6), dealing with conduct which
adversely reflects upon an attorney's
fitness to practice law;

2. DR 5-105 (A), dealing with declining
employment if an attorney's exercise of
independent professional judgment on behalf
of a client will be or is likely to be
adversely affected or would involve the
attorney in representing differing interests;

3. DR 5-105 (B), dealing with the continuation
of multiple employment if the exercise of
an attorney's independent professional
judgment on behalf of a client would be
adversely affected by representation of the
client or if it would likely involve him
in representing differing interests; and

4. DR 8-101 (A)(3), prohibiting a lawyer who
holds public office from accepting anything
of value from a person when the lawyer knows

- or it is obviouR that the offer is for the
purpose of influencing his action as a
public official.

Footnote 1 cont'd. 

in relation to any proceeding, application request for a ruling 
or other determination, contract, claim, controversy, charge, 
accusation, arrest, or other particular matter in which the 
United States is a party or has a direct and substantial interest, 
before any department, agency, court-martial, officer, or any 
civil, military, or naval commission . . . . 

* * * 

"Shall be fined not more than $10,000 or imprisoned for not 
more than two years, or bothi and shall be incapable of holding 
any office of honor, trust, or profit under the United States." 
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It was the recommendation of the hearing committee that respondent 

be suspended from the practice of law for a period of four years.2

The Board concurred with the hearing committee that: respondent's 

conviction constituted violations of the above-mentioned disciplin

ary rules. However, the Board recommended to this Court that 

respondent be suspended for a period of only three years 

retroactive to the date of the initial suspension, March 28, 

1979. Following receipt of the Board's recormnendation, this 

Court issued a Rule to Show Cause why respondent should not be 

disbarred on September 25, 1981, and heard oral argument in this 

matter on January 19, 1982. 

The question presented to this Court is the extent 

of discipline to be imposed upon an attorney who pleaded guilty 

in federal court to a charge of u·· 1 awful receipt of compensation 

for representation of a client by his law firm before a 

federal agency. In light of respondent's conviction in federal 

court, we need not be concerned with the sufficiency of the 

evidence of the commission of that offense. Pa.R.D.E., 214 confirms 

that "(a] certificate of a conviction of an attorney for such 

a crime shall be conclusive evidence of the commission of that 

crime in any disciplinary proceeding instituted against the 

attorney based upon the conviction." See Office of 

Disciplinary Counsel v. Troback, 477 Pa. 318, 383 A.2d 952 

(1978); In re Gottesfeld, 245 Pa. 314, 91 A. 494 (1914). 

One member of the hearing committee filed a lengthy 
dissent, recommending that respondent receive no more than a 
public or private censure. 
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In spite of the fact that the certificat� 

of conviction serves as conclusive evidence of 

respondent's guil�, it is our duty to consider the events 

which surrounded the criminal charge in order "to weigh the 

impact of the conviction upon the measure of discipline. 11 

Office of Disciplinary Counsel v. Troback, supra at 320, 383. 

A.2d at 952. Cf. In re Greenberg, 457 Pa. 33, 318 A.2d 740

(1974). Thus, we will examine the incident to determine if any 

mitigating factors are present which would persuade us to temper 

the discipline to be imposed. However, we are not required to 

proffer respondent a second opportunity for an acquittal or ignore 

the fact that he entered a plea of guilty to this offense in 

federal court. 

Respondent argues that the circumstances surrounding 

the offense to which he pleaded guilty do not evidence misconduct 

of such character as to warrant discipline more severe than 

that recommended by the Board, which in the case at bar was 

suspension for a period of three years. The standard of review 

vested in this Court in disciplinary matters is de !:E..Y.£· Office 

of Disciplinary__Counsel v. Campbell, 463 Pa. 472, 345 A.2d 616 

(1975). Although the Board I s findings and recommendations are often 

persuasive, its conclusions are advisory only and are not binding 

upon us. In the Matter of Marx S. Leopold, 469 Pa. 384, 366 A.2d 

227 (1976). Office of Disciplinary qounsel v. Walker, 469 Pa. 

432, 366 A.2d 563 (1976). In the instant case, our thorough 

review of the records leads us to agree with the Board that 
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respondent's actions constituted violations of the afore

mentioned disciplinary rules. However, we are convinced that 

a lengthier suspension than the Board suggested is in order, 

and hence suspend respondent for a period of five years. 

The evidence adduced at the hearings on October 29 t

1980, and November 14, 1980, indicate the following facts which 

r�sulted in respondent's conviction. Respondent was elected 

to the United States House of Representatives in 1966. During 

his tenure as a Congressman, respondent simultaneously practiced 

law in a partnership with three other attorneys. Respondent 

was aware of the prohibition against the receipt by a Congressman 

of compensation for representation of a client before a federal 

agency. Consequently, respondent's law firm established a dual 

practice by creating an additional entity comprised of respondent's 

three law partners. That law firm was to receive all fees from 

any federally-related comensation. 

Prior to that time, respondent was approached by 

the administrative assistant to Rep. Daniel Flood and was asked 

if his firm would be interested in representing Hahnemann 

Hospital in Philadelphia. After several meetings with 

respondent and his firm, representatives from Hahnemann Hospital 

discharged its counsel and hired respondent's firm. 

In the course of its representation, respondent's 

firm sought federal funding for the construction of an.addition 

to the existing hospital. After numerous unsuccessful attempts 

-5-
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to secure financing, Congressman Flood. as Chairman of the House 

Appropriations Sub-Committee on the Departments of Labor and 

Health, Education, and Welfare, drafted legislation specifically 

granting Hahnemann Hospital a line item appropriation for 

$14,500,000. This legislation was signed into law on June 24, 

1975, by President Gerald R. Ford, who designated the Community 

Services Administration (hereinafter "CSA") as the federal 

agency responsible for the release of the funds. 

The CSA, apparently not fully satisfied with the 

overall financial feasibility of the construction project, had 

not released funds by March, 1976. Respondent request Congressman 

Flood to telephone President Ford's chief counsellor, John 0. 

Marsh, Jr., to facilitate the release of the federal grant money. 

Congressman Flood contacted Marsh, and shortly thereafter, the 

money was received by Hahnemann Hospital. 

The law firm composed of respondent's law partners 

subsequently received a check in the amount of $100,000 from 

Hahnemann Hospital. Within two ··1eek$ of depositing that sum, 

the firm issued a check to respondent for $34,900. 

In his guilty plea, respondent conceded that he knowingly 

received income for services rendered by himself or another on a 

matter before a federal agency although prohibited by law to do so. 

However, respondent contends that a close examination of the 

accounts of the law firms reveal that only a small part of the 
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$34,900 could be traced to the hospital matter. Most 

of the money represented funds owed to respondent by the 

companion firm for other legitimate legal services. In fact, 

respondent places the blame for his unlawful receipt of funds 

on an accounting error of the partner who was responsible for the 

distribution of funds and who normally omitted all funds 

generated by federal representation from respondent's share of 

the partnership draw. 

Respondent asserts that his good faith effort to 

avoid receipt of prohibited compensation by establishing a dual 

practice law firm evinces an "ethic sensitivity" which militates 

against harsh disciplinary sanctions. Furthermore, respondent 

notes that he sought opinions from the Congressional Research 

Service in the Library of Congress on April 18, 1975, and 

November 15, 1976, concerning the legality of the activities for 

which he was later convicted. Respondent argues that these 

measures indic.ate the extent to which he endeavored to prevent 

any violation of §203(a). 

What respondent fails to mention is that both opinions 

from the Library of Congress strongly questioned the ethics of 

a "dual practice" arrangement, commenting that while such a 

device did not technically violate §203(a), it bordered 

precariously near an appearance of a conflict of interest. 

We need not now rule upon the ethics of a dual 

practice law firm. The fact that respondent proceeded to establish 
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such an arrangement in the face of its dubious nature indicates 

to us at least an awareness on his part of the need for an 

abundance of caution in the administration of the firms. Yet 

respondent admittedly relinquished all control of the accounting 

procedures to his law partners. He stated at the hearing on 

October 29, 1980: 

"I assumed that [respondent's law partners], 
together with the accountants, would take care 
of whatever bills and records, receipts, and 
expenditures that were involved. I did not 
make it a practice to all to look into those 
matters. I realize it was my responsibility, 
but it was purely a delegated one." 

We cannot understand how respondent attempts to advance as a 

mitigating factor that his partner made an accounting error 

when respondent admitted at the hearing, "I recei.ved the 

checks. I should have known what the sources of the income 

were. That was my responsibility. I was a full parnter." 

Respondent's attempt to lessen his guilt by asserting that 

someone else made an error is unconvincing. This argument 

bears a resemblance to the case where an associate under 

the employ of the attorney subject to discipline was the one 

who actually prepared false contingent fees for which the 

attorney was held responsible. Just as we held therein, 

respondent is not relieved of culpability because he may not 

have "dirtied his hands with the manual task." In re Berlant 

Appeal, 458 Pa. 439, 442, 328 A.2d 471, 474 (1974). 
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Respondent was fully aware of the federal prohibition 

enunciated by §203(a). Nonetheless, he voluntarily engaged 

in the practice of law with a firm whose clientele required 

federal representation. In fact, respondent played a role 

in actively encouraging such clients to hire his firm for 

representation. In doing so, he walked a very narrow line 

between proper and improper conduct. The danger of receiving 

some federally prohibitep funds was obvious, yet he 

completely delegated the responsibility to insure against 

that event to another attorney. The exact amount by which he 

benefitted is irrelevant to our imposition of discipline. 

Just as we do not discipline attorneys based on whether their 

schemes to defraud clients were successful or not, we are not 

now concerned with whether respondent received $100 or $34,900 

in illicit funds. This Court has stated, "[i]n his high 

office the attorney-at-law is a minister of justice; he 

ceases so to be when whether in the line of his professional 

work or outside of it, he prostitu�es his knowledge of the 

law and the skill he has acquired therein to thwart the law." 

In re Gottesfeld, 245 Pa. 314, 317, 91 A. 494, __ (1914). 

Respondent manipulated his office as a congressman and his 

position as an attorney in order to achieve a technical 

compliance with the law; by placing himself in a position 

vulnerable to error and mistake, he must now accept the penalty 

for any infraction of those rules. 
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This Court is well aware of the need to review 

the propriety of an attorney's continued professional 

involvement in the practice of law in disciplinary cases. Our 

concomitant duty is 11to protect the public and preserve the public 

confidence in the legal profession and the judicial system." 

Office of Disciplinary Counsel v. Lewis, 493 Pa. 519, 

527, 426 A.2d J.138, 1142 (1981), citing, Matter of Leopold, 

469 Pa. 384, 394, 366 A.2d 227, 231-232 (1976); Office of 

Disciplinary Counsel v. Grigsby, 493 Pa. 194, 425 A.2d 730 

(1981), Office of Disciplinary Counsel v. Herman, '•93 Pa. 

267, 426 A.2d 101 (1981). In seeking to preserve public 

confidence in the integrity of the legal profession, we must 

consider that respondent was not only an attorney, but an 

elected official, who by virtue of his office engaged in 

conduct which resulted in his conviction. The unique posture 

of respondent makes his offense a more serious one than a singular 

violation of the disciplinary rules by an individual attorney. 

Our decision to suspend respondent rather than disbar 

him is based upon his significant contributions to his 

constituents while a public servant and the numerous 

distinguished character witnesses who testified to his good 

character, high repute, and fitness to practice law 

notwithstanding his conviction. 

Respondent is hereby suspended from the practice of 

law for a period of five years, retroactive to the date of 

the original suspension, March 28, 1979. 
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BEFORE THE DISCIPLINARY BOARD OF THE 
SUPREME COURT OF PENNSYLVANIA 

OFFICE OF DISCIPLINARY COUNSEL, NO. 8 DB 79 

Petitioner, 

v. 

JOSHi.JA EILBERG, 

Respondent 

Attorney Registration 
No. 03881 

(No. 222, Disciplinary 
Docket No. 1, Supreme 
Court) 

REPORT AND RECOMMENDATIONS OF THE 
DISCIPLINARY BOARD OF THE SUPREME

COURT OF PENNSYLVANIA

TO THE HONORABLE CHIEF JUSTICE AND JUSTICES OF THE SUPREME 
COURT OF PENNSYLVANIA: 

Pursuant to Pennsylvania Rule of Disciplinary Enforcement 

208(d), the Disciplinary Board of the Supreme Court of 

Pennsylvania ("Board") submits its findings and recommendations 

to Your Honorable Court with respect to the above-captioned 

petition for discipline. 

I. History of Proceedi�

On February 24, 1979, respondent pleaded guilty to Count 1

of an indictment in the United States District Court for the 

Eastern District of Pennsylvania4 That count of the indictment 

alleged a violation of 18 u.s.c. §203(a), an agreement by a

Member of Congress to receive compensation in matters affecting 

the United States Government. That same day, respondent was 

sentenced by the Honorable Ra�nond J. Broderick to pay a fine 

of $10,000, to serve five years probation and not to hold any 

federal office of honor, trust or profit. 



On March 28, 1979 the Supreme Court of Pennsylvanin 

suspended respondent upon a certified copy of the order 

reflecting his conviction, pursuant to Pennsylvania Rule of 

Disciplinary Enforcement 214(a). The Court then referred 

the matter to this Board for a recommendation as to the 

final discipline to be imposed. 

On November 13, 1979 the Office of Disciplinary Counsel 

filed a petition for discipline alleging violations of 

ORl-102 (A) (4) and (6), DRS-105 (A) and (B) and DRS-101 (A) (3). 

A hearing was held before a hearing committee on October 29, 

1980 and November 14, 1980 at which evidence was presented 

by both parties concerning the appropriate discipline. On 

November 14, 1980, respondent presented testimony of 

numerous distinguished members of the bar and others concerning 

his fitness to practice law. The hearing committee filed its 

report on February 10, 1981 along with a dissenting opinion. 

The majority found violations of DR1-102{A) (6), DRS-lOS(A) 

and {B) and DR8-10l{A) (3) and recommended a four year suspension 

retroactive to March 28, 1979. A lengthy dissent focusing 

upon respondent's accomplishments in public office and the 

high esteem in which he is held by members of the bar and 

general public and considering the technical nature of the 

criminal violation, recommendad a public or private censure. 

Both respondent and Office of Disciplinary Counsel excepted tu 
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the report of the hearing committee. 

II. Statement of Facts

The certified order upon which the respondent was

suspended is conclusive evidence of the commission of the 

crime, a violation of 18 u.s.c. §203(a). Rule 214(b). The 

necessary elements of that crime are therefore accepted as 

fact: respondent, while a member of Congress, knowingly 

accepted compensation, other than as provided by law, for 

services rendered before a federal agency. Since the issue 

in this proceeding is limited to the extent of final discipline 

to be imposed, Rule 214(c), facts relevant to respondent's 

conduct before and after the criminal violation are relevant. 

Respondent has been a member of the bar since 1948e 

(Notes of Testimony, hereinafter "N.T." at 18) For over two 

years he served in the District Attorney's office. (N. T. at 

19) From 1954 through 1966 respondent served in the State

House of Representatives and then served six terms as a United 

States Congressman. (N.T. at 20) 

During his tenure as a United States Congressman, 

respondent and his firm attempted to segregate fees such that 

respondent would not benefit from fees from federally related 

work. (N.T. at 26-27) Prior to the incident which led to 

reBpondent's conviction, respondent sought advice on two 

occasions from the Library of Congress concerning his firm'!! 
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practice before federal agencies and also consulted with 

Representative Emanuel Cellar, a fellow practicing lawyer, 

on the same subject. (N.T. 27-28) 

Respondent, in addition to his extensive public service, 

has also served as a member of the Board of Temple University 

and has been active in various charitable pursuits. (N.T., 

Vol II, at 8) He has been a longstanding member of B'Nai 

B'Rith and is highly respected for his work relating to 

human rights and oppressed minorities. (N.T., Vol. II, at 

27) He made a substantial contribution toward government

efforts to free Soviet Jews. His involvement in this regard 

has continued even after his conviction. (N.T., Vol. II, at 

28-31)

Finally, the many, very distinguished members of the 

bar called before the hearing committee unanimously testified 

to respondent's good character, high repute and fitness to 

practice law. 
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III. Discussion

The appropriate discipline is the only question to be

decided by the Board pursuant to Rule 214(c) and the mandate 

of the March 28, 1979 order of the Supreme Court. The determina-

tion of the appropriate discipline to be imposed upon respondent 

requires a careful balancing of the seriousness of respondent's 

criminal offense, on the one hand, and the other evidence of 

respondent's good character and fitness to practice law on 

the other hand. 

The Board concurs with the hearing committee majority 

that the facts established by respondent's conviction also 

establish a violation of DR l-102(A) (6), DRS-lOS(A) and (B) 

and DR 8-lOl(A) (3). At the same time the Board notes that 

respondent has been the only person ever prosecuted or con-

victed under 18 u.s.c. §203(a). More importantly, his 

conviction does not represent a pattern of conduct but rather 

appears to be a solitary blemish on an otherwise distinguished 

record as a member of the bar and as a public servant. 

Nonetheless, the crime of which the respondent was 

convicted, even as an isolated incident, was a serious one. 

For a member of the bar and particularly one in the public 

eye to have corrnnitted such a crime jeopardizes the public 

confidence in the integrity of the oar and of the legal system. 
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The Board finds that the seriousness of the situation mandates 

a substantial sanction. 

Respondent's contributions to the community before and 

after his conviction are also noteworthy. Community service 

was ordered by Judge Broderick and a group of the most 

distinguished attorneys, without dissent, considers Respondent 

fit to perform such service as a lawyer. The Board has 

seriously considered the argument of Disciplinary Counsel that 

Respondent's suspension from the practice of law must be 

coterminous with his probation, but has considered that a 

rigid formalism is not called for here. 

IV. Recommendation

Having considered all of the evidence and carefully

·weighed the circumstances, the Board respectfully recommends

to Your Honorable Court that Respondent Joshua Eilberg be

suspended from the practice of law for a period of three years,

retroactive to March 28, 1979, with the right to reapply

six (6) months before the end of the suspension and with the

further right to reapply earlier should his probation be

terminated earlier by the Court.

DATED: August 14, 1981

Respectfully submitted, 

THE DISCIPLINARY BOARD OF THE 
SUPRE�R�O�P;;:if-

BY: .,...,.,.,. 
J ohn-M-. -� _E_l_l._i_o_t_t_,_E_s_

q_u
_i·r·e

Mer.tber 

Mrs. Hammerman and Mr. Krawitz did not participate in the 
adjudication. 
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